COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 44969-2-II

ROBIN EUBANKS and ERIN GRAY
Respondents/Plaintiffs,
v.

DAVID BROWN, individually and behalf of his marital community,
Petitioner/Defendants.

&

KLICKITAT COUNTY, KLICKITAT COUNTY PROSECUTING
ATTORNEY'S OFFICE;
Defendants

Brief of Petitioner David Brown

EVANS, CRAVEN & LACKIE, P.S.
Michael E. McFarland Jr., WSBA #23000
Markus W. Louvier, WSBA #39319
818 W. Riverside, Suite 250
Spokane, WA 99201-0910
(509) 455-5200
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

1. Introduction.

This is an interlocutory appeal of the *Order Deciding Defendants' Motions for Expedited Hearing, to Continue Motion Hearing and for Evidentiary Hearing, and to Disqualify Plaintiffs' Counsel*, entered in the Clark County Superior Court, May 7, 2013. CP 434-436. At issue is the Court's decision to deny Petitioner/Defendant David Brown's motion to disqualify Plaintiffs' counsel Thomas Boothe from his representation of Plaintiffs Robin Eubanks and Erin Gray (hereinafter "Eubanks/Gray") in a case in which the Eubanks/Gray allege sexual harassment and other claims against Mr. Brown and Klickitat County.

Mr. Boothe does not dispute the Trial Court's Finding that David Brown and Thomas Boothe had an attorney-client relationship in May and June 2010. CP 435, Conclusion of Law 3. It is established, again without dispute from Mr. Boothe, that Mr. Brown discussed the potential for the litigation of claims that might be made by Eubanks/Gray against Mr. Brown with Mr. Boothe while Mr. Boothe was acting as Mr. Brown's attorney. CP 435, Findings of Fact 1, 2 and Conclusion of Law 3. Mr. Boothe admits vaguely that whatever might have been discussed regarding the Eubanks/Gray claims was merely a one-way conversation beginning and ending with Mr. Brown, and that Mr. Boothe merely listened. After he was approached by Eubanks/Gray, who worked in the office of the

Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney with Mr. Brown, Mr. Boothe assumed their representation against Klickitat County. However, Mr. Boothe accepted Eubanks/Gray as clients only after consulting various resources regarding a possible conflict of interest stemming from his representation of Mr. Brown. Notwithstanding his own reservations that led him to consult those various resources about a potential conflict, Mr. Boothe now vehemently protests any suggestion that he has a conflict of interest in representing the Eubanks/Gray against a former client and Mr. Brown's demand that he should either resign or be disqualified.

After a hearing, the Trial Court concluded that an attorney-client relationship did exist between Mr. Brown and Mr. Boothe (CP 435-436) but only regarding specific election issues. Regarding sexual harassment claims the Trial Court concluded that while the attorney-client relationship existed between Mr. Boothe and Mr. Brown, the "current action [this lawsuit] is not 'a substantially related matter' [to the] issues on which Boothe and Brown consulted, for purposes of RPC 1.9(a). CP 436. The Court also concluded that Mr. Brown was only a "prospective client" under RPC 1.18(a) regarding the sexual harassment claims (CP 436) and that Mr. Brown failed to meet his burden to disqualify Mr. Browne from representing Eubanks/Gray because he did not "show that the attorney [Boothe] received information from the prospective client [Brown] that

could be significantly harmful to the prospective client in the matter." *Id.* Therefore, Mr. Brown's motion to disqualify Mr. Boothe from representing Eubanks/Gray was denied. CP 436. This appeal followed.

When faced with the specter of a conflict of interest an attorney and the court should be driven by an abundance of caution. Here, the Trial Court concluded that Mr. Brown and Mr. Boothe did in fact have an attorney-client relationship as to certain issues but not as to sexual harassment claim issues which, as Mr. Brown submits, were discussed with Mr. Boothe at the same time. Splitting that hair, the Trial Court determined that the entirety of the relationship was defined by specific issues rather than the expectations of the client. For the following reasons, Appellant David Brown respectfully submits that the Trial Court committed reversible error when it denied his motion to disqualify Mr. Boothe from the Eubanks/Gray representation.

2. Assignments of Error.

A. The Trial Court erred when it denied Defendant Brown's *Motion to Disqualify Attorney.*

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error.

1. When presented an issue regarding the existence of the attorney-client relationship, is the Court limited to an analysis of the

specific issues involved in the asserted representation or should the Court give weight to the contemporaneous understanding of the client?

2. If an attorney gains confidences from an existing client that are unrelated to the subject matter of the then existing attorney-client relationship, can that same attorney subsequently represent individuals adverse to the former client in a lawsuit relating to the subject matter of the confidences shared?

3. Is a prospective client seeking to disqualify an attorney pursuant to RPC 1.18 required to disclose the substance of the confidences shared with that attorney?

3. Statement Of The Case.

David Brown is a former deputy prosecutor in the Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney's Office. CP 1. In late 2009, Mr. Brown made the decision to run for the office of Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney. *Id.* During Mr. Brown's preparation for announcing his candidacy for the 2010 election, he became concerned that the Hatch Act precluded him from running for office while being employed as a deputy prosecutor. CP 2. Mr. Brown was also concerned about what legal protections he had as an employee in an "at will" and FLSA-exempt position. *Id.* To address these concerns, Mr. Brown sought legal counsel and was eventually directed to attorney Thomas Boothe of Portland, Oregon. CP 3.

Mr. Boothe's law office phone number at all times relevant was 503-292-5800. CP 75. In May 2010, Mr. Brown contacted Mr. Boothe for legal advice (CP 3-4) and in the month of May 2010 the two had a number of phone conversations totaling over 75 minutes (CP 3-4, 47-48, 52-53, 69-71 and 73) and exchanged numerous e-mails. CP 8-19. Those phone calls and e-mails primarily concerned Mr. Brown's decision to run for prosecuting attorney, but also touched on other employment issues. *Id.*

Also during that time period, on May 28, 2010, two employees (Robin Eubanks and Erin Gray) submitted a grievance alleging that Mr. Brown had sexually harassed them. CP 48, 382. After being notified and interviewed about the allegations (CP 368-370) Mr. Brown was recommended for "sensitivity and team building training" on June 15, 2010. CP 371. Mr. Brown called Mr. Boothe on June 21, 2010. CP 4, 48, 71 "Item 1190." During that 15 minute conversation, Mr. Brown advised Mr. Boothe that Eubanks and Gray had accused him of sexual harassment and that the accusations came shortly after he announced his candidacy for prosecuting attorney. CP 4. Mr. Boothe advised Mr. Brown to do his best to limit his exposure to any "discovery fishing expedition" that might occur later. CP 4.

On December 17, 2010, Eubanks and Gray sued Klickitat County and Mr. Brown, asserting a claim of sexual harassment. On June 21, 2011

Mr. Boothe was contacted by Seattle counsel for the purpose of referring the Eubanks/Gray suit to him. CP 94, ¶ 45. On July 28, 2011, Mr. Boothe was formally substituted as counsel for Eubanks and Gray. CP 96, ¶ 52. On August 12, 2011, Mr. Boothe was informed by counsel for Mr. Brown that Mr. Brown considered Mr. Boothe to have a conflict of interest in representing one or both of Eubanks or Gray. CP 96, ¶ 54; CP 151. Within 15 minutes Mr. Boothe accused Mr. Brown of lying. CP 151.

On January 4, 2013, Brown brought a motion to disqualify Mr. Boothe from representing Eubanks/Gray. CP 44-45, 27-36, 20-23, 37-43, 1-19. Klickitat County joined in that motion. CP 46-51, 52-75. Mr. Boothe opposed that motion.

In an order dated May 7, 2013 (CP 434-436), the Trial Court correctly concluded that Brown had an attorney-client relationship with Mr. Boothe "on the Hatch Act and other election issues." The Trial Court also correctly found that as part of that attorney-client relationship, Mr. Brown discussed the sexual harassment allegations made against Brown by Eubanks and Gray. However, even though Mr. Brown and Mr. Boothe had an existing attorney-client relationship, the Trial Court concluded that Mr. Brown was only a "prospective client" of Boothe as to the sexual harassment claims that were discussed at that time. CP 436. The Trial Court then held that since Brown refused to disclose the substance of the

confidences shared with Mr. Boothe regarding the sexual harassment claims, the *Motion to Disqualify* was insufficient and was therefore denied.

4. Argument

A. The Standard Of Review.

The question of whether an attorney's conduct violates the relevant rules of professional conduct is a question of law. *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d 451, 457-458, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992). The court's decision to grant or deny a motion to disqualify counsel is a legal question subject to de novo review. *Id.*; *Sanders v. Woods*, 121 Wn.App. 593, 597, 89 P.3d 312 (2004). The purpose of the Rules of Professional Conduct is to protect the public from attorney misconduct, and the Rules should be interpreted broadly to achieve that purpose. *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d at 458-459.

The Trial Court correctly found that Mr. Boothe and Brown "formed an attorney/client relationship...." CP 435, Conclusion of Law 3. The Trial Court likewise made a factual finding that during that attorney-client relationship, Mr. Brown "mentioned to Boothe that other employees were making sexual harassment allegations against him." CP 435, Finding of Fact 2. Despite the fact that the "other employees" who made the sexual harassment allegations are the same people that Mr. Boothe now represents in this sexual harassment lawsuit against Mr. Brown, the Trial

Court refused to disqualify Mr. Boothe because Mr. Brown was only a "prospective client" regarding the sexual harassment allegations. As a "prospective client" the Trial Court required Brown to divulge the confidences that he had shared with Boothe. When Mr. Brown refused, the Trial Court refused to disqualify Mr. Boothe from representing Eubanks/Gray in their lawsuit against Mr. Boothe's former client.

The Trial Court's refusal to disqualify Mr. Boothe absent a disclosure of the very confidences that Mr. Brown is attempting to protect is clear and obvious error for the following reasons. First, the Trial Court erroneously analyzed the case under RPC 1.18 ("Duties to Prospective Clients"), as opposed to RPC 1.9 ("Duties to Former Clients"). Since Mr. Brown is in fact Mr. Boothe's former client (CP 435, Conclusion of Law No. 3) Mr. Brown was not required to disclose the substance of the confidences he shared with Mr. Boothe. Second, even if Mr. Brown was only a "prospective client" under RPC 1.18, Mr. Brown was not required to disclose the substance of the confidences he shared with Mr. Boothe

B. The Existence Of The Attorney-Client Relationship Is Determined, In Large Part, By The Subjective Intent Of The Client.

This issue was determined by the Trial Court in a vacuum. While Mr. Brown has demonstrated through his Affidavit (CP 1-19) that he firmly believed that he was consulting with his lawyer when he discussed

the Eubanks/Gray claims, the Trial Court analyzed the situation from a more detached viewpoint. That is, the Trial Court academically analyzed whether the relationship existed under RPC 1.18 or 1.9 in May and June 2010 while it largely ignored what Mr. Brown thought at that critical time.

Case law is clear that the existence of an attorney-client relationship "turns largely on the client's subjective belief that it exists." *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Egger*, 152 Wash. 2d 393, 410-11, 98 P.3d 477 (2004). The caveat is that the client's belief must be "reasonable." *Id.* In this case, the reasonableness of Mr. Brown's belief that he had an attorney-client relationship with Mr. Boothe regarding the harassment allegations is best evidenced by the fact that Brown shared those confidences with Boothe during an existing and functioning attorney-client relationship. Mr. Brown's belief that the confidences he shared with his then-attorney would not later be used by that attorney to prosecute a case against him is unquestionably "reasonable." Indeed, it was as a result of that attorney-client relationship that Mr. Brown felt comfortable sharing the confidences about the harassment allegations with Mr. Boothe:

I was shocked to learn the Mr. Boothe, the same attorney I shared confidences with, relied upon for legal advice and felt was in a privileged attorney-client relationship with, was taking over the [Eubanks/Gray] case. I always believed that I had an attorney-client relationship with Mr. Boothe and that is way I shared

confidences with him, including confidences about the allegations made against me by his clients.

CP 5.

It was because of my belief that I had an attorney-client relationship with Mr. Boothe that I felt comfortable sharing confidences with him about the sexual harassment allegations made against me by the very persons Mr. Boothe now represents in this lawsuit against me.

See, *Petitioner David Brown's Reply In Support of Motion for Discretionary Review, Appendix A-1* (July 5, 2013).

The evidence submitted to the Trial Court shows that both Mr. Brown and Mr. Boothe believed that the attorney-client relationship extended to the claims being brought by Eubanks/Gray Eubanks and Gray. Mr. Boothe's self-serving *Affidavit* (CP 77-173) confirms the point of the attorney-client relationship being dependent on the client's interpretation of events rather than the attorney's. As Mr. Boothe's *Affidavit* demonstrates, the attorney is in a better position to selectively manage information gleaned from the client and make whatever entries in his or her records that the attorney sees fit to make while all the while gathering information from the client.

Mr. Boothe split hairs in his description of events when he contends that Mr. Brown did not make "reference to Eubanks/Gray or their complaints about Brown," and that he "never identified a female

coworker by name, and he never made any reference to any of the four women who are now Eubanks/Gray in this lawsuit." CP 89 ll. 15-17. This does not eliminate the fact that Mr. Brown provided information to Mr. Boothe regarding pending or threatened claims. Rather, it merely shows that Mr. Brown used discretion in his relation of events to Mr. Boothe; it does not mean that he did not discuss the claims with Mr. Boothe. CP 89, ll. 13-19. Mr. Boothe repeats this claim at p. 15 ll. 21-25 (CP 91) and yet cannot convincingly deny that Mr. Brown did in fact tell Boothe about the accusations.

Mr. Boothe's "practice . . . [of] open listening" as explained at p. 15, ll. 10-17 (CP 91) of this *Affidavit* is completely self-serving and indeed deceptive to the client. That "powerful listening tool" allows an attorney to pick up the phone, listen to the client, confirm what the client just said, and then ask "what do you want me to do?" without creating any type of attorney-client relationship. According to Mr. Boothe, this is nothing more than allowing the client to "vent" frustrations and counsel himself (CP 91, ll. 15-17) – a truly remarkable method by which the attorney can shield himself or herself from later being called out in a situation of obvious conflict. This, coupled with Mr. Boothe's "practice" of two-fold retainers (CP 79) and keeping notations in various "Amicus" computer files (CP 78-79) would make it quite easy for Mr. Boothe to later deny

representing a person who had provided Mr. Boothe with confidential information. Under that system Mr. Boothe can merely deny that any conversation of a privileged nature ever occurred, because he was merely "listening" and made no record of the conversation in his computer.

That possibility of manipulation is clear when one considers Mr. Boothe's represented "practices" in light of the record herein. The record shows that when counsel for Mr. Brown again raised the conflict issue with Mr. Boothe, Mr. Boothe represented to counsel that:

As an employment attorney, if he [Brown] had raised any employee based questions, no matter how tangentially, I would have processed this as an attorney-client matter and sent him a retainer, even if my effort had been only to obtain insurance or employer representation for him, or I would have sent him a letter making clear that I would not representing (*sic*) him on the matter did neither (*sic*) . . .

CP 160-161, letter from Mr. Boothe to counsel McFarland dated November 21, 2012. However, Mr. Boothe's submissions herein show that Mr. Brown did in fact raise very specific "employee based questions" in his email to Mr. Boothe during the critical time, on May 14, 2010 (CP 111-112) and Mr. Boothe did nothing to reject representation even though he claims that he would have "[made it] clear that I would not representing (*sic*) him."

As further evidence of Mr. Boothe's own subjective belief of the danger of representing Eubanks/Gray, consider further from his *Affidavit*.

Mr. Boothe contends that through May 2011 he knew nothing of any harassment claims made against Mr. Brown. CP 92-93, ¶¶ 42-43. He contends that he discussed Klickitat County employee retention matters with Mr. Brown "in May of 2011" (CP 93, ¶ 43) and then, remarkably, in June 2011 he received the referral of the Eubanks/Gray' case from a lawyer in Seattle. CP 94, ¶ 45. Mr. Boothe admits that he was concerned with a conflict of interest based upon his prior conversations with Mr. Brown. *Id.* He "briefly reviewed" the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding client conflict issues (*Id.*) and did some "preliminary research" into the determination of an attorney-client relationship "and what commonality is required for an attorney to be disqualified due to an impermissible conflict." *Id.* This apparently was a "permissible conflict."

Even though Mr. Boothe had satisfied himself that he had no "impermissible conflict," he held off accepting the referral even though he was being "pressed" to take the case. CP 94, ¶ 46. Mr. Boothe performed further research into the RPCs and then called the Washington State Bar Association "Ethics Hotline" and left a message. CP 95, ¶ 47. Mr. Boothe was "advised" by the Bar Association that "both RPC 1.9 and 1.18 could be implicated." *Id.* Mr. Boothe was "advised" by the Bar Association that he was not receiving legal "advice" from the Bar but rather was receiving information that might assist him in making an "informed conclusion." *Id.*

Mr. Boothe then re-read and researched RPC 1.9 and 1.18 "and cases interpreting each of them" and he became "confident that there was no conflict." His decision was made. Yet, because of "extreme caution" he contacted a lawyer friend of his "whom I knew as an ethics expert" and consulted further. It is unknown whether Mr. Boothe's expert/friend employed the powerful "open listening" tool during their conversations. Based upon what Mr. Boothe had told his "ethics expert" lawyer friend, Mr. Boothe was advised that there *had never been* an attorney-client relationship with Mr. Brown. CP 95, ¶ 48. Mr. Boothe was advised that he had nothing to worry about. As we now know the Trial Court disagreed with that conclusion. CP 435, Conclusion of Law 3.

It therefore took seven days for Mr. Boothe to determine, in his own mind, that there was no conflict or even the appearance of a conflict of interest. CP 94-95, ¶¶ 45-49. During that time Mr. Boothe "quickly reviewed" applicable Rules of Professional Conduct, performed "preliminary research," consulted with the Washington State Bar Association Ethics Hotline, consulted with a friend and colleague who he knew to be an "ethics expert," performed additional research and analysis, and finally decided to take the Eubanks/Gray' case.

For such a clear-cut decision Mr. Boothe's analysis was quite involved. That analysis by Mr. Brown is a bright indicator of just how

reasonable Mr. Brown's expectations really were, as were his beliefs that confidences had been shared with Mr. Boothe as part of an attorney-client relationship. In his analysis Mr. Boothe did not objectively analyze his prior relationship with Mr. Brown, but actively worked to "confirm [his] initial assessment" that he did not have a conflict of interest. CP 94, ¶ 46. In other words the decision was made and then Boothe researched the issue to justify his decision.

Also, it is noteworthy that Mr. Boothe's July 13, 2011 letter to Mr. Brown's present counsel herein simply glosses over the nature and extent of conversations between Mr. Boothe and Mr. Brown. CP 136-137. Again, this is only Mr. Boothe's version of events. Yet in an objective analysis Mr. Brown's belief – that he could share confidences with his attorney and that his attorney would not thereafter "switch sides" to represent persons claiming against him – was absolutely reasonable. The Trial Court failed to make that objective analysis, instead looking at the perceived distinctions of the claims themselves. This ignores Washington law, which recognizes:

[T]he underlying concern is the possibility, or the appearance of the possibility, that the attorney may have received confidential information during the prior representation that would be relevant to the subsequent matter in which disqualification is sought.

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