No. 44969-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBIN EUBANKS, ERIN GRAY, ANNA DIAMOND, and KATHY HAYES,

Respondents,

v.

DAVID BROWN, individually and on behalf of his marital community, and KLICKITAT COUNTY,

Petitioners.

CONSOLIDATED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Sidney Tribe, WSBA #33160 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 18010 Southcenter Parkway Tukwila, WA 98188 (206) 574-6661 Thomas S. Boothe, WSBA #21759 7635 S.W. Westmoor Way Portland, OR 97225-2138 (503) 292-5800

Attorneys for Respondents Robin Eubanks, Erin Gray, Anna Diamond, and Kathy Hayes

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

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court ruled summarily on the disqualification motion, thus its findings of fact and conclusions of law are superfluous in this appeal. The harassed women need not challenge those findings, as review is *de novo*, nor may Brown and the County rely on them. Any argument raised below in support of affirming the trial court's decision is properly raised here.

Brown's excessive delay in bringing his motion alone is sufficient grounds for denying it. Despite his current insistence (without evidence) that the harassed women's attorney possessed damaging confidences since his appearance in July 2011, Brown waited eighteen months, during substantive complex litigation, including trial preparation and appellate proceedings on venue, to bring his motion. His explanation for the delay strains credulity at best, and reveals his true tactical intentions – to delay resolution of the harassed women's claims on the merits and to drive up their expenses. The County's joinder does not cure Brown's lack of diligence. It admits its disqualification motion is completely derivative of Brown's. The County's belated involvement is further evidence of the defense tactic of delay.

Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Brown, summary disposition of the disqualification motion was appropriate. RPC 1.9(a) does not categorically bar attorneys from suing their former clients as Brown and the County implicitly contend. Rather, applying the present language of RPC 1.9(a), Brown offers no evidence that he sought or received legal advice from Boothe with respect to the sexual harassment matter. Also, the Hatch Act issues that Brown claims to have pursued with Boothe are factually distinct from the harassed women's claims that Brown was sexually inappropriate at the workplace. Finally, under RPC 1.18, Brown has offered no evidence that Boothe possesses any significantly harmful information. His sole claim is that he mentioned sexual harassment allegations to Boothe. The fact that Brown was accused of sexual harassment is public knowledge.

Should this Court choose to remand for an evidentiary hearing, it should clarify to the trial court that the findings of fact and conclusions of

law included in the summary order on appeal are not binding. Both Brown and the County claim on appeal that these "unchallenged" findings are somehow binding and guide this Court's decision. In the interests of judicial economy, it should be made clear to the trial court that they are not binding, nor are they the law of the case, and any arguments by Brown and the County to the contrary are meritless.

This Court should affirm the trial court's summary judgment order. In the alternative, this Court should remand this matter for an evidentiary hearing to resolve disputed issues of material fact.

- E. ARGUMENT
 - (1) <u>Standard of Review</u>
 - (a) <u>The Trial Court's Summary Disposition Without</u> <u>Holding an Evidentiary Hearing to Resolve</u> <u>Disputed Issues of Fact Is Reviewed</u>

An order entered by the trial court that relies solely on affidavits is similar to an order granting summary judgment, and is reviewed as if it were a summary judgment order. *Brinkerhoff v. Campbell*, 99 Wn. App. 692, 696, 994 P.2d 911, 914 (2000). In *Brinkerhoff*, one party appealed a trial court's order enforcing a settlement agreement. Although the facts were disputed, the trial court entered an order relying solely on affidavits. *Id.* at 696. On appeal of the enforcement order, the parties disputed the standard of review. Despite the fact that orders enforcing settlements are usually reviewed for abuse of discretion, this Court concluded that because the trial court acted summarily, relying solely on affidavits, the standard of review was not abuse of discretion, but *de novo*. *Id*.

The trial court summarily disposed of the disqualification motion. The court declined to hold an evidentiary hearing, weigh evidence, or make credibility determinations regarding the parties' conflicting evidence. CP 434-35; RP 4. Instead, the court relied purely on affidavits and took all the evidence in the light most favorable to Brown. *Id.* Thus, the standard of review here is *de novo*.

Despite having relied solely on affidavits and ruled summarily, the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 446-48. Trial courts need not enter findings of fact and conclusions of law when acting summarily, and if it does so those findings are superfluous. CR 56; *Westberry v. Interstate Distrib. Co.*, 164 Wn. App. 196, 209, 263 P.3d 1251 (2011), *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1013 (2012).

Acknowledging the summary nature of the trial court's order disposition below is important to properly assess the County and Brown's arguments on appeal. Although they seek reversal of the trial court's summary judgment order, Brown and the County incorrectly rely upon some of the findings and conclusions to support their arguments, and claim that they are somehow binding in this appeal. Brown br. at 1; County br. at 11, 16-18.

When a Washington court reviews orders finding that an attorneyclient relationship existed, but the factual record was not developed, the proper course is not to enter findings but to remand to the trial court. Dietz v. Doe, 131 Wn.2d 835, 845, 935 P.2d 611, 616 (1997). Thus, this Court may not - as Brown and the County suggest - make credibility determinations or reach findings about disputed issues of fact. Boeing Co. v. Heidy, 147 Wn.2d 78, 87, 51 P.3d 793, 798 (2002) disapproved of on other grounds by Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 1, 201 P.3d 1011 (2009). Appellate courts do not weigh evidence or assess credibility. Id. It is the sole province of the trier of fact to pass on the weight and credibility of evidence. Davis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 94 Wn.2d 119, 124, 615 P.2d 1279 (1980) (questions of credibility are for trier of fact and are not overturned on appeal); State v. Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992) (trier of fact's function is to weigh persuasiveness of evidence).

Acknowledging the current state of the factual record is also important because it means this Court cannot grant Brown and the County the relief they request: an order disqualifying Boothe. The facts that Brown and the County cite in support of their arguments for disqualification are disputed. Even if this Court after review believes the trial court may have erred, the only proper remedy is remand for a hearing, credibility determinations, and entry of appropriate findings of fact and conclusions of law.

(b) <u>Although the Parties Do No Dispute that the</u> <u>Standard of Review Is De Novo, This Court Should</u> <u>Clarify the Misstatement from Sanders Upon Which</u> <u>Brown and the County Rely, that All</u> <u>Disqualification Orders Are Reviewed De Novo</u>

Brown and the County both state that the standard of review of an order denying attorney disqualification is *de novo*. Brown br. at 7; County br. at 7. The authority upon which Brown and the County rely regarding disqualification motions, *Sanders v. Woods*, 121 Wn. App. 593, 597, 89 P.3d 312, 314 (2004), does, in fact, make this statement. Thus, the parties do not disagree about the standard of review. However, it is important for future cases that this Court corrects the line of cases stating that disqualification orders are always reviewed *de novo*. This is an incorrect statement and could cause confusion.

The statement in *Sanders* suggesting that all disqualification orders are reviewed *de novo* is flawed. *Sanders* cites to *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d 451, 457–58, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992), in claiming that the *de novo* standard of review applies to all disqualification orders. However, our Supreme Court in *Eriks* was reviewing a summary judgment order concluding that an attorney's conduct – the facts of which were not disputed – violated the RPCs. *Eriks*, 118 Wn.2d at 457. The only disputed "facts" in *Eriks* were statements in two affidavits from experts opining that the attorney's conduct did not give rise to a conflict of interest. *Id.* The Supreme Court concluded that although the attorney's *actions* were a question of fact, the experts' statements that those actions did not create a conflict of interest were questions of law, not fact. Thus, the Court held that the application of the undisputed facts of an attorney's conduct to the RPCs on summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Id.* at 458.

Thus, *Eriks* said nothing about the standard of review of an order granting or denying disqualification. Id.⁵ Simply applying the *Eriks de novo* standard of review – in which the Court was interpreting an RPC in the context of a summary judgment motion based on undisputed facts – to all disqualification orders is improper. It ignores that the trial court might have resolved disputed issues of fact after an evidentiary hearing. For example, disqualification is improper unless the trial court first establishes

⁵ The Sanders court's reliance on Eriks appears to operate on the flawed assumption that if a trial court concludes that a lawyer violated RPC 1.9(a), disqualification is automatic. It is not. First Small Bus. Inv. Co. of California v. Intercapital Corp. of Oregon, 108 Wn.2d 324, 337, 738 P.2d 263, 270 (1987) (possible RPC 1.9(a) violation but no disqualification ordered because of substantial delay in bringing the motion).

that an attorney-client relationship exists, which is entirely a question of fact. *Dietz*, 131 Wn.2d at 843-46.

Although the holding would not be material to the standard of review here – since both parties agree it is *de novo* this Court should clarify in its opinion that, contrary to the Sanders statement, disqualification orders are not always reviewed de novo. Instead, this Court must look to the nature of the proceeding below, e.g. whether it was decided on summary judgment or after an evidentiary hearing. Dietz, 131 Wn.2d at 843-47; Bohn v. Cody, 119 Wn.2d 357, 363, 832 P.2d 71, 74 (1992) holding modified by Trask v. Butler, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994). Appellate review of a trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law after an evidentiary hearing is limited to determining whether the trial court's findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record and, if so, whether the conclusions of law are supported by those findings of fact. Willener v. Sweeting, 107 Wn.2d 388, 393, 730 P.2d 45 (1986). Although the process of applying established facts to a court rule or RPC is a legal exercise reviewed *de novo*, the trial court's exercise of authority in establishing those facts is not reviewed de novo. The trial court's findings of fact must simply be supported by Id. substantial evidence. Id.

There is no question that the summary judgment standard of review is to be applied in this case, and thus the applicable standard is *de novo*. However, for clarity and for the benefit of future courts and litigants, this Court should clarify that there is no blanket *de novo* standard of review for disqualification orders. The standard of review is based upon the nature of the disqualification proceeding, and whether it was decided on summary judgment or after an evidentiary hearing.

(2) Brown Waived His Right to Move for Disqualification by Excessive Delay; Disqualification as to the County Is Moot Because the County's Position Is Entirely Derivative of Brown's

In their response to Brown and the County's motion to disqualify their attorney, the harassed women argued that Brown waived the option to move for disqualification by failing to bring his motion reasonably promptly. CP 208. The trial court not did reach or rule on this issue, but it is a sufficiently developed alternative basis for affirming the court's decision. *State v. Villarreal*, 97 Wn. App. 636, 643, 984 P.2d 1064, 1068 (1999), *review denied*, 140 Wn.2d 1008, 999 P.2d 1261 (2000); *State v. Sondergaard*, 86 Wn. App. 656, 657–58, 938 P.2d 351 (1997), *review denied*, 133 Wn.2d 1030, 950 P.2d 477 (1998).

In Washington, motions for disqualification are viewed in light of the potential consequences of depriving parties of their chosen counsel. *First Small Bus.*, 108 Wn.2d at 335. "Disqualification of counsel is a drastic remedy that exacts a harsh penalty from the parties as well as punishing counsel; therefore, it should be imposed only when absolutely necessary." *Matter of Firestorm 1991*, 129 Wn.2d 130, 140, 916 P.2d 411

(1996). Other state and federal courts agree that disqualification motions should be carefully scrutinized, because they are subject to abuse as a litigation tactic. *Associated Wholesale Grocers, Inc. v. Americold Corp.*, 266 Kan. 1047, 1057, 975 P.2d 231, 238 (1999); *In re Allboro Waterproofing Corp.*, 224 B.R. 286, 290 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. 1998); *Allegaert v. Perot,* 565 F.2d 246, 251 (2d Cir. 1977).

As the Washington Supreme Court has stated, *delay in filing alone* is sufficient basis to deny a motion to disgualify counsel:

A motion to disqualify should be made with reasonable promptness after a party discovers the facts which lead to the motion. This court will not allow a litigant to delay filing a motion to disqualify in order to use the motion later as a tool to deprive his opponent of counsel of his choice after substantial preparation of a case has been completed.

First Small Bus., 108 Wn.2d at 337 (quoting Central Milk Producers Coop. v. Sentry Food Stores, Inc., 573 F.2d 988, 992 (8th Cir. 1978). See also, Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d at 145 ("Delay in filing the motion to disqualify is suggestive of its use for purely tactical purposes and could be the sole grounds for denying a motion to disqualify.").

Even when the delay in bringing a disqualification motion was nine months, our Supreme Court concluded that the delay was excessive, and denied disqualification. *Id.* at 144. In *First Small Bus.*, the moving party waited several years. 108 Wn.2d at 337. Again, our Supreme Court denied disqualification, despite some evidence that there may have been an RPC violation.

Here, Brown was first made aware of Boothe's plans to appear in the case on July 11, 2011. Brown did not move for disqualification until January 2013, more than eighteen months later.

In the intervening year and half between Boothe's appearance and the filing of Brown's motion to disqualify, Boothe handled the harassed women's case as lead counsel, investing hundreds of hours of time and preparation in discovery, motions practice, and the first interlocutory appeal, the sole purpose of which was to ensure that the action against Brown remained in the same venue as the action against the County. That appeal is still pending. During the abundant discovery phase, Brown claims that Boothe could have been using alleged, albeit still unidentified, confidences against him, but did not take any action.

Brown's claimed justification for this extraordinary delay is that an order changing venue in this case would somehow result in Brown's dismissal. CP 412. Brown claims that he relied on Boothe's July 13, 2011 letter, in which he claims Boothe promised to dismiss Brown as a witness after the venue issue was resolved on appeal. *Id.* Thus, Brown claims it was reasonable to wait for the Court of Appeals to rule on the venue issue. *Id.* at 413. Brown claims that he selflessly refrained from bringing his motion for eighteen months as a "professional courtesy." *Id.*

Brown's explanation is illogical and pretextual. Boothe wrote nothing of the sort in his July 13 letter. He stated that if, after reviewing the venue motion, he believed the motion was meritorious, it *might* influence his decision regarding whether or not to dismiss Brown as a defendant. CP 137. However, Boothe clearly did *not* conclude the motion was meritorious, as the subsequent trial and appellate level litigation regarding that issue revealed. Even assuming Brown and his counsel misapprehended Boothe's July 13 letter, they could not misread Boothe's November 2011 letter, in which he *expressly stated* that even if the venue issue were resolved in Brown's favor, litigation against Brown would continue in the new venue. CP 154.

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